# Appeal No. 23-CF-196



# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 12/02/2024 01:11 PM Filed 12/11/2024 10:21 AM

RAKEEM WILLIS,	
Appellant,	

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

v.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division

# **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

JACLYN FRANKFURT

**ALICE WANG** 

\*STEFANIE SCHNEIDER

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 633 Third Street, NW Washington, DC 20001 (202) 628-1200 sschneider@pdsdc.org

\*Counsel for Oral Argument

# **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether the motions court reversibly erred in admitting expert testimony on cell site location information without: (a) requiring the government to disclose prior to trial a written summary of the expert's opinions, and the bases and reasons for those opinions, as required by Superior Court Rule of Criminal Procedure 16; and (b) assessing the reliability of the expert's principles and methods, and his application of those principles and methods to the facts of the case, as required by Federal Rule of Evidence 702.
- 2. Whether the trial court reversibly erred in failing to disqualify an inattentive juror who repeatedly slept during the most important parts of the trial.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

On September 22, 2021, a grand jury returned a superseding indictment charging Rakeem Willis, Jonathan Winston, and Jeffrey Felder with conspiracy to kill Sean Shuler and to conceal evidence of the crime by killing Javon Abney and Tyrik Haygood, in violation of D.C Code §§ 22-2101, -1805a. App. 1. Mr. Willis and Mr. Winston were also each charged with three counts of first-degree (premeditated) murder while armed, in violation of D.C. Code §§ 22-2101, -4502; three counts of possession of a firearm during a crime of violence ("PFCV"), in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4504(b); and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm (prior conviction) ("FIP"), in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4503(a)(1), (b)(1). App. 5-6. Mr. Willis was further charged with fleeing from a law enforcement officer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to "App. \*" refer to pages in the Appendix for Appellant. Citations to "\*\*/\*\*/\*\* at \*" designate a particular date and page from the trial transcripts.

on the day of his arrest, in violation of D.C. Code § 50-2201.05b (b)(2). App. 7.2

Following pretrial litigation before Judge Milton Lee, a joint jury trial commenced before Judge Michael Ryan on October 25, 2022. At the close of the government's case, Judge Ryan granted Mr. Winston's motion for judgment of acquittal ("MJOA"), 11/8/22 at 6, and the government voluntarily dismissed the conspiracy charge against Mr. Willis, *id.* at 19-20. The jury convicted Mr. Willis of first-degree murder while armed and fleeing a law enforcement officer, but acquitted him of PFCV and FIP. 11/16/22 at 3-6. Judge Ryan sentenced Mr. Willis to 120 years of imprisonment, followed by five years of supervised release. 2/10/23 at 30-31; App. 11. Mr. Willis filed a timely notice of appeal. App. 12-13. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

# STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### I. Overview

Around 10 p.m. on January 26, 2019, Sean Shuler, Javon Abney, and Tyrik Haygood were killed by gunfire in the 1500 block of Fort Davis Place—a residential street in Southeast D.C. Neighbors reported hearing gunshots and catching a glimpse of two shooters and a dark car, but they could not describe the shooters. Around 11 p.m., police responded to a vehicle fire in Capitol Heights, Maryland, and discovered a burned black Lexus that was presumed to be the dark car involved in the shooting.

The government theorized that Mr. Willis, Mr. Winston, and Mr. Felder

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Felder was charged with three counts of accessory after the fact for first-degree murder while armed, in violation of D.C. Code §§ 22-1806, -2101, -4502. App. 7-8. His case was severed, 6/6/22 at 3-4, 8, and the government subsequently dismissed all charges against him. App. 9-10.

conspired to kill Mr. Shuler and killed Mr. Abney and Mr. Haygood to eliminate any witnesses. According to the government, Mr. Willis lured Mr. Shuler to the 1500 block of Fort Davis Place, where he and Mr. Winston lay in wait in a black Lexus; they then shot an unsuspecting Mr. Shuler, Mr. Abney, and Mr. Haygood, and drove north to Capitol Heights, where they met up with Mr. Felder and burned the Lexus.

Despite this elaborate theory, the government presented no evidence directly tying Mr. Willis or his alleged co-conspirators to the shooting or the burned Lexus. No eyewitness testimony or surveillance footage placed any of them at the murder scene or burn site. Although a gun was found in the burned Lexus, it was inconsistent with the shell casings found at the murder scene. No DNA or fingerprints linked Mr. Willis or his alleged co-conspirators to the murders or the burned Lexus. Nor did the government posit a motive for why any of these men would want to kill Mr. Shuler.

Instead, the government's case was built around call detail records ("CDRs") and cell site location information ("CSLI") for five unregistered cell phone numbers: 240-856-8168 ("the 240 number"); 443-454-9090 ("the 443 number"); 720-421-3650 ("the 720 number"); 202-821-8262 ("Mr. Felder's number"); and 202-725-5567 ("Mr. Shuler's number"). The government presented circumstantial evidence to link Mr. Willis to the 240 and 443 numbers and Mr. Winston to the 720 number. It relied on the CDRs to argue that Mr. Willis communicated repeatedly with Mr. Winston, Mr. Felder, and Mr. Shuler on the day of the murders. Finally, over defense objection, the government called Federal Bureau of Investigation ("FBI") Agent Billy Shaw as an expert in CSLI to opine about the locations of the phones on the day of the murders. Agent Shaw presented a series of maps showing the cell towers,

or "cell sites," used by the phones to make and receive calls throughout the day. The maps showed pie-shaped wedges emanating from the activated sectors of the towers that, according to Agent Shaw, represented each sector's coverage area, and by extension, the phone's location at the time of the call. The government argued that the CSLI placed Mr. Willis at the murder scene at the time of the shooting and showed him traveling north toward the burn site immediately afterward.

By the close of the government's case, serious deficiencies in the evidence became clear. Finding the evidence insufficient to link Mr. Winston to the 720 number, Judge Ryan granted Mr. Winston's MJOA on all charges. The government voluntarily dismissed the conspiracy charge against Mr. Willis. The jury acquitted Mr. Willis of PFCV and FIP, indicating that it could not find that he was one of the shooters. On appeal, Mr. Willis contends that: (1) Judge Lee reversibly erred in admitting Agent Shaw's expert testimony without requiring adequate expert notice under Superior Court Criminal Rule 16, and without assessing the reliability of the testimony under Federal Rule of Evidence 702; and (2) Judge Ryan reversibly erred in failing to remove an inattentive juror who repeatedly slept during the most critical portions of the trial, including the cross-examination of Agent Shaw.

### II. The Shooting

At 10 p.m. on January 26, 2019, police responded to a shooting in the 1500 block of Fort Davis Place, SE. 10/25/22 at 59-60, 64, 85; 11/7/22 at 93. They found Mr. Shuler's dead body in the middle of the road and the dead bodies of Mr. Abney and Mr. Haygood seated in a parked grey Toyota Camry with the engine running and the windows and driver's door open. 10/25/22 at 65, 85, 87; 10/27/22 at 88. A

medical examiner performed autopsies and concluded that all three men died from multiple gunshot wounds. 10/31/22 at 106, 148, 151; 11/7/22 at 93.<sup>3</sup>

Ernest Mason and Shantell Walker were in their bedroom at 1512 Fort Davis Place when they heard gunshots. 10/26/22 at 23-26; 10/27/22 at 46-47. Ms. Walker looked out her window and saw an unfamiliar car and a figure standing over a body in the street. 10/27/22 at 48-49. Upon hearing more shots, she left the window. *Id*. at 50. Mr. Mason heard a muffled firecracker sound, followed by additional gunshots 20 to 30 seconds later. 10/26/22 at 26-27. Looking out a different window, he saw two "silhouette[s]"—one on the sidewalk and one in the street—shooting into a grey or black car. *Id.* at 27-28, 48. The shooters then ran down the hill to a car parked next to a body, got in the car, drove two to three feet, and stopped. *Id.* at 28-29, 31. Someone got out of the car, stood over the body, appeared to "mess[] with it," and got back in the car. *Id.* at 31. The car then drove away. *Id.* at 33. Ms. Walker and Mr. Mason could not describe the shooters, id. at 50-51; 10/27/22 at 53, 55, and provided only generic descriptions of the car. Ms. Walker described a dark, four-doored sedan, 10/27/22 at 48, and Mr. Mason said it was dark blue or black, possibly an Acura. 10/26/22 at 51. Neither saw the license plate. *Id.* at 51; 10/27 at 54.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Crime scene technicians recovered multiple cartridge casings from inside and around the Camry; three jackets and a firearm inside the Camry; a Rolex watch in the grass; \$334.47 in Mr. Shuler's pockets; \$240.45 in Mr. Abney's pockets; and \$2,000 in Mr. Haygood's pockets. 10/27/22 at 91, 102, 104, 105, 113, 121-22, 125, 133-34, 139, 140. According to the government's firearms expert, the cartridges were shot from two firearms—a .40 caliber handgun and a .45 caliber handgun. 11/7/22 at 81. No DNA or fingerprints tied Mr. Willis (or Mr. Winston or Mr. Felder) to any of the physical evidence found at the scene.

#### III. The Fire

Around 11 p.m., police responded to a vehicle fire at 1743 Kenilworth Avenue in Capitol Heights, Maryland. 10/26/22 at 69. Firefighters were extinguishing a fire in a black Lexus with license plate number 9CP4566. *Id.* at 75, 78-79, 89, 94-95. Police later searched the car and found parts of a Glock 27 handgun, bullets, and cartridge casings. *See id.* at 105-36. A firearms expert testified that the Glock 27 was inconsistent with the ammunition recovered from the murder scene. 11/7/22 at 80.

#### **IV.** The Surveillance Videos

The government presented video footage from two home surveillance systems and two traffic cameras depicting a dark sedan at various locations in Southeast D.C. on the night of the shooting. The government argued that the videos cumulatively showed a black Lexus traveling toward the murder scene and then toward the burn site, see 11/8/22 at 47, 52, 56, 57 (closing), but none of the videos showed the license plate number, make, or model of the car, much less who was in the car. According to the government, a ten-minute video (beginning at 9:42 p.m.) from a speed camera at the intersection of Southern Avenue and Forest Glen Court, SE, 10/26/22 at 147-48, 152, depicted "the black Lexus" traveling north toward the crime scene at 9:46 p.m., 11/8/22 at 47. The government argued that footage from 3195 Q Street, SE showed the same car entering the 1500 block of Fort Davis Place at 9:50 p.m. and leaving just after 10 p.m., 10/25/22 at 115-22; 11/8/22 at 48, 52, 56 (closing), while footage from 1677 Fort Davis Street showed the car crossing R Street as it left the crime scene, 10/25/22 at 130-37; 11/8/22 at 56 (closing). Finally, the government argued that a five-minute video (beginning at 10:05 p.m.) from a red-light camera at the intersection of Pennsylvania and Minnesota Avenues, SE, 10/26/22 at 155-57, captured "the black Lexus" en route to the burn site in Capitol Heights, 11/8/22 at 47.<sup>4</sup> Defense counsel disputed that the government had proven that the dark sedans in the videos were even the same vehicle, let alone the car used by the shooters or the black Lexus burned later that night. *Id.* at 77-79.

#### V. The Cell Phone Attribution Evidence

The government sought to link Mr. Shuler, Mr. Felder, Mr. Winston, and Mr. Willis to five unregistered cell phone numbers used on the day of the murders.

## A. 202-725-5567 ("Mr. Shuler's Number")

The government introduced a screen shot from Shade Sweeny's cell phone documenting a video call with 202-725-5567 (labeled "my heart," her nickname for Mr. Shuler) on January 26, 2019, at 9:57 p.m. 10/27/22 at 21-22. Ms. Sweeny testified that Mr. Shuler was in the backseat of a car during the call. *Id.* at 23-24, 27.

# B. 202-821-8262 ("Mr. Felder's Number")

Deputy U.S. Marshal Michael Maradin testified that tracking 202-821-8262 led to Mr. Felder's apprehension in September 2021. 11/2/22 at 190-93.

# C. 720-421-3650 ("The 720 Number")

The government unsuccessfully tried to link the 720 number to Mr. Winston. Jade Wiggins, the mother of Mr. Winston's child, testified that, in January 2019, she lived in an apartment at the Wharf, and Mr. Winston sometimes slept there. 10/26/22 at 10-11, 16-17. Agent Shaw testified that the 720 number activated a cell tower at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The government played this footage for the jury but never drew the jury's attention to the cars it would later argue were the burned Lexus.

the Wharf on January 26, 2019 at 2:20 p.m., and on January 27, 2019 at 1:04 a.m. 11/3/22 at 41, 56. Detective Joshua Branson testified that Mr. Winston's brother was incarcerated in Colorado and that 720 is a Colorado area code. 11/2/22 at 167-69. At the close of the evidence, Judge Ryan ruled that it was "simple speculation" that Mr. Winston used the 720 number and granted his MJOA. 11/8/22 at 6.

# D. 443-454-9090 ("The 443 Number")

Mr. Willis's ex-girlfriend, Elaine Gaye, testified that Mr. Willis's mother died on January 4, 2019. 11/2/22 at 138. The government adduced a life insurance claim form purportedly signed by Rakeem Willis on February 6, 2019, that listed the 443 number as the contact number. *Id.* at 37-43.

### E. 240-856-8168 ("The 240 Number")

The parties stipulated: "Rakeem Willis provided the number (240) 856-8168 to a Government official to whom he . . . was under a duty to provide a telephone number. In January 2019 that Government official called Rakeem Willis on the number (240) 856-8168 and spoke to Rakeem Willis over the telephone." 11/7/22 at 93. Ms. Gaye testified that Mr. Willis had called her from the 240 number. 11/2/22 at 101, 134. The government also played a "B.O.P. recorded prison call . . . on January 26th, 2019, from the account of Derrick Phillips to (240) 856-8168." *Id.* The caller said, "I'm sorry to hear about[] your mother, man," and "everybody don't know what it's like to lose a mother." App. 15.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The government also adduced evidence that the 240 and 443 numbers were connected to each other because each number had, at different times, been activated on an iPhone recovered from Mr. Felder's son Avontae. Avontae's mother testified that she gave his iPhone to a detective in May 2019. 10/27/22 at 35-38. The phone's

#### VI. The CDR Evidence

The government introduced call detail records ("CDRs") provided by T-Mobile and Verizon for the five phone numbers. 10/31/22 at 18-21, 59-63. The CDRs listed the calls made and received by each number on the day of the murders, as well as the cell sites (i.e., cell towers) used for each call. 11/3/22 at 37-38. The government compiled the CDRs into a summary exhibit, introduced as Exhibit 572, which showed the calls among the five numbers from 12:00 p.m. on January 26, 2019, to 1:05 a.m. on January 27, 2019. *Id.* at 119-21; App. 20-60. Exhibit 572 showed that the 443 number exchanged calls with the 720 number and Mr. Felder's number throughout the day. App. 20-60. It also showed calls between the 443 number and Mr. Shuler's number from 2:20:23 p.m. to 5:13:10 p.m.; calls between the 240 number and Mr. Shuler's number from 6:23:09 p.m. to 9:55:46 p.m.; no calls between 9:56:20 p.m. and 10:20:29 p.m.; a call from the 443 number to an IHOP in New Carrolton, Maryland, at 11:50:22 p.m.; an "abnormal completion call" from the 443 number to the 240 number at 12:42:26 a.m.; and two calls between the 443 number and the 720 number just after 1:00 a.m. App. 20-60. Neither the 443 number nor the 240 number called Mr. Shuler's number after 10:00 p.m. 11/3/22 at 133-34.

\_

activation log indicated that the 240 number was activated on January 20, 2019; the 443 number was activated on February 9, 2019; and another number was activated on March 27, 2019. 10/31/22 at 29-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The government introduced surveillance footage from the IHOP showing a white Infiniti pulling into the parking lot and a Black man picking up a carryout order. 10/31/22 at 64, 69-76. Detective Joshua Branson identified the man as Mr. Willis. 11/2/22 at 177-79. Ms. Gaye testified that Mr. Willis drove a white Infiniti. *Id.* at 133-34. The government presented no evidence linking the white Infiniti to the shooting or the burned Lexus.

#### VII. The CSLI Evidence

The centerpiece of the government's case was FBI Agent Billy Shaw's expert testimony about the CSLI for the 443 number, the 240 number, the 720 number, and Mr. Felder's number, as depicted in his "report" (introduced as Exhibit 531)—a 28-page slide deck of maps showing the cell towers activated by the phones as they made and received calls on the day of the murders. *See* App. 61-89. The maps showed pie-shaped wedges that, according to Agent Shaw, represented the coverage areas of the activated sectors, and by extension, the locations of the phones at the time of the calls. The government relied on this evidence to argue that Mr. Willis (using the 443 and 240 numbers) met up with the 720 number; traveled to the crime scene just before the murders; and fled north in the direction of the burn site to meet up with Mr. Felder. However, both the adequacy of the expert notice and the admissibility of the expert testimony were hotly disputed pretrial.

# A. The Pretrial Litigation

In a pretrial discovery letter dated September 16, 2020, the government stated its intent to call Agent Lynda Thomas of the FBI's Cellular Analysis Survey Team ("CAST") as "an expert in the field of cellular phone technology, cellular towers, and the analysis of historical cellular phone records for the purpose of determining the approximate location from which a phone was used at the particular time or range of times." App. 95. The letter advised that Agent Thomas had "conducted an analysis of the call detail records" and would "interpret the call detail records [s]he analyzed," id., but it did not say what the expert's interpretation would be. Instead, the letter incorporated by reference four previously disclosed draft "reports" for the phone

numbers the government sought to attribute to Mr. Willis and his alleged coconspirators. The maps plotted the locations of the cell towers in the Verizon and T-Mobile networks that the phones used when making and receiving calls on January 26, 2019, and depicted 120-degree wedges ("sector illustrations") emanating from the activated sectors of the towers. *See* App. 98-184. The reports stated that "a sector illustration shows the general area of coverage as it relates to a specific geographic area and indicates incoming or outgoing call activity." App. 117, 141, 169.

Each report also contained the following vague description of the expert's "methodology" and "conclusions":

### 2. Methodology

An analysis was performed on the call detail records obtained for the target cell phones. The call detail records documented the network interaction to and from the target cell phones. Additionally, the records documented the cell tower and cell sector ("cell site") which served the cell phones during this activity. Used in conjunction, the call detail records and a list of cell site locations illustrate an approximate location of the target cell phones when they initiated contact with the network.

### 2.1 Cell Site Locations

Cell sites in existence during the time of the incident were input into mapping software using latitude/longitude coordinates of the cell sites provided by the services provider(s). The cell sites associated with the target cell phones, were located utilizing the mapping software and the plotted cell site data.

#### 3. Conclusions

A historical cell site analysis was performed on the call detail records for the target cell phone. The methods detailed in Sections 2 and 2.1 were used to produce the attached historical cell site analysis maps.

App. 99, 113, 137, 165. Neither the discovery letter nor the reports explained how the expert used the "cell site locations" to determine the "approximate" locations of the phones; what "mapping software" the expert used to create the maps; and how

the expert or the software determined the "general" coverage areas of the cell sites.

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