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

stray from “talking about general areas, general locations” (id. (emphasis added)). 

Further, Winston requested, if Agent Shaw “suddenly changed [his] mind” and 

“start[ed] saying that [a phone] should have connected to [a] closer tower or typically 

or almost always” does, then Winston “want[ed] that sort of language limited” (id. 

at 13-14). Government counsel explained the agent would say that “typically the 

phone does connect to the closest tower” but it depends on several factors, including 

the “total number of calls being made on the network at a time” (id. at 14). Agent 

Shaw’s testimony, government counsel noted, would be “carefully caveated” and he 

would not testify, for example, that “[‘]it must have been the closest tower[’]” (id. 

at 14-15). In that regard, government counsel explained, Agent Shaw’s testimony 

would be “exactly like every cell site expert who has ever testified in the Superior 

Court” (id. at 15).   

 Judge Lee agreed to admit Agent Shaw’s testimony subject to these 

limitations: 

It can’t be absolute because I think nobody can legitimately say that and 
I think I would be troubled if somebody came in to say that because I 
have never heard -- and I’ve heard them multiple times in trial, but I’ve 
never heard anybody say the science backs that up. So as long as that’s 
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the limitation, I think I’m okay with that piece, but I don’t want the 
expert to run afoul of that[.] (6/17/22:15.) 

So limited, Judge Lee ruled, Agent Shaw’s proposed testimony satisfied Rule 702. 

It was based on sufficient facts or data – “Here the data relied upon by the 

Government is cell data kept by the phone companies that show the use of a 

particular cell number that is then recorded historically in these documents” (id. at 

19; see Fed. R. Evid. 702(b)). Further, Agent Shaw’s testimony met Rule 702(c)’s 

requirement that it be “based on reliable principles”; in 12 to15 trials involving such 

cell site testimony, Judge Lee “heard” the CAST agents describe their 

“methodology” – e.g., the “process that they use” – and the “[c]ourts have pretty 

routinely said [the methodology is] reliable” (6/17/22:19). Finally, Judge Lee 

determined, he hadn’t “heard anything” suggesting Agent Shaw had failed to 

“reliably appl[y]” this methodology (id. at 17, 19; see Rule 702(d)). “[T]his type of 

information,” Judge Lee explained, “is uniformly admitted into evidence” both in 

Superior Court and “the federal system as well,” which is “a very powerful indicator 

of its general acceptance in court” (6/17/22:16).15  

 Moreover, correctly recognizing the Rule 702’s Advisory Committee Notes 

admonition that “the trial court’s role as gatekeeper is not intended to serve as a 

 
15 Indeed, as Winston’s counsel had previously conceded, he was unaware of any 
Superior Court judge who had “rejected” such expert testimony (4/7/22:20-21).   
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replacement for the adversary system,” Judge Lee would permit “pretty liberal” 

cross-examination; would let Winston’s cell-site expert testify for the “same 

reasons” it was permitting Agent Shaw to testify; and would “give the instruction on 

experts” (6/17/22:18-20).16 Thus, Judge Lee finally ruled, he would admit Agent 

Shaw’s testimony “along with the use of a standard instruction for expert testimony 

and [ ] permit cross examination as well as the Defense evidence if they deem it 

appropriate” (id. at 24).17 

 
16 Before the court’s final ruling, Winston also objected to Exhibit 531’s “actual 
displays,” contending they were “subtl[y]” “misleading” based on “the way [the pie 
wedges] [we]re shaped” and the displays might thus “overpower[]” the court’s 
“limitation” on Agent Shaw’s testimony (6/17/22:20-21). As Judge Lee explained, 
however, in his experience, the CAST “experts say its usually like a pie shape and 
it’s based on a kind of the direction of the tower and what I’ve heard and what I 
would expect to hear is that the pie shape is kind of representative. It’s not an 
absolute.” (Id. at 21 (emphasis added).) Government counsel affirmed that Agent 
Shaw’s testimony would be similar to that of the other CAST experts (id.). 
Moreover, Judge Lee noted, defense counsel could always cross-examine Agent 
Shaw about the visual displays (id. at 22-23). But when defense counsel protested – 
“why put the error in there in the first place?” – the court asked to review Exhibit 
531 and counsel apparently emailed it to the court, a practice the defense elsewhere 
engaged in during the trial (id. at 23; see 11/3/22:68 (Willis’s counsel referring to an 
“email” he “sent” to the court during trial testimony)). Ultimately, the court directed, 
if Winston still had concerns about any of Exhibit 531’s visual displays, he should 
“see if the government w[ould] somehow acquiesce to maybe changing that slide or 
taking that slide out” (6/17/22:24). Neither Winston nor Willis thereafter objected to 
Exhibit 531’s visual displays.    
17 Winston did not ultimately have to call his defense expert because the court 
granted his acquittal motion.   
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 The trial court also declined Winston’s request for a “standard Daubert 

hearing,” where the court could “hear evidence about this and also actually hear” 

Agent Shaw’s testimony “before” trial (6/17/22:16). Although Judge Lee understood 

he had the discretion to conduct such a hearing (“I could do it”), he’d “already heard 

it over and over and over again” in 12 to15 other trials  with testimony from a CAST 

agent (id. at 17).18 

3. Agent Shaw’s Testimony 

 At trial, the court qualified Agent Shaw as an expert on “the topic of historical 

cellular record analysis” (11/3/22:31).19 A cell phone, Agent Shaw explained, “is 

simply a radio” that “interacts with the network via cell towers,”20 and that’s how 

 
18 At a subsequent hearing addressing the government’s opposition to Winston’s 
proposed cell-site expert, government counsel addressed Winston’s Rule 16 claim 
(see note 13 supra),  explaining that Agent Shaw’s report provided the “detail and 
the specificity that allow[ed] the Defense to know” his opinions (7/28/22:15; id. at 
21 (AUSA: “[I]t is a map. It shows towers, [and] the pie shapes”)). Defense counsel 
disagreed, protesting: “[a]ll it is is a map visualization of the call detail records . . . 
all it does is it plot points” (id. at 16-17). But, as the court rightly noted, “that is the 
opinion” and thus concluded the government had satisfied Rule 16 (id. at 17 
(emphasis added)).    
19 Agent Shaw had worked for the FBI for seven years and, as a CAST member, 
analyzed call-detail records, gave training on CAST methodologies, and provided 
expert testimony (11/3/22:27-28). Agent Shaw had received 248 hours’ training in 
the analysis of historical cell site records, analyzed “[h]undreds” of call-detail 
records, and “provided instructions to several CAST basic classes” (id. at 28-31).   
20 “[T]ypically,” a cell tower is “broken up into three sectors,” each of which is 
“approximately 120 degrees” (11/3/22:37). However, towers that “are typically 

(continued . . . ) 
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one places and receives calls (id. at 32). A cell phone will “work from a tower with 

the strongest signal that the tower connects to when it either places or receives a 

phone call” (id.). But the “strongest and clearest signal does not necessarily mean 

the closest signal” (id. at 118; see also id. at 76 (“So when the phone call is placed, 

it's going to connect to the tower with the closest and strongest signal. Clearly that 

is going to be the closest tower unless there’s some kind of physical structure or 

valley or mountain or something impeding that signal.”)). Service providers – e.g., 

AT&T, Verizon, T-Mobile – keep call-detail records of all such calls “for billing 

purposes” (id. at 32-33). Agent Shaw “trust[s] these records” because they “are not 

maintained for law enforcement purposes” (id. at 86).   

 Agent Shaw’s report in this case reflected his analysis of the target phones’ 

historical cell site records (11/3/22:33; see Exh. 531).21 “[T]o conduct this analysis,” 

 
located in very densely populated areas” – like The Wharf neighborhood – 
sometimes have one 360-degree sector (id. at 40). Providers install more cell sites in 
denser urban areas “to provide more coverage” (id.). In suburban and rural areas, 
fewer towers are  “spread out further” (id.). “It’s all about trying to provide the best 
coverage for the users of the cell phone” (id.). Each provider keeps a list of its cell 
towers and assigns each a “unique identifier” (id. at 32). These lists also contain “a 
specific latitude and longitude of every tower in the network” (id.). 
21 When Agent Shaw “inherited” Agent Thomas’s preliminary report, he made 
certain corrections to the cell-tower identifiers because Agent Thomas had 
“transposed some numbers” (11/3/22:34). Agent Shaw then had another CAST agent 
peer review it “to check for any errors” (id.). “[T]o ensure [the report’s] accura[cy],” 
the peer-review agent used a “different software” than the ESPA software  used by 
Agent Shaw (id. at 116).  
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Agent Shaw used two records: the “call detail records” and “the tower list” (id. at 

37, 82). A user’s call detail records identify: who placed or received the call; the day 

and time the call was placed or received; and – via its “unique identifier” – the cell 

site and sector connecting the call  (id. at 37-38; see also id. at 63 (“if a record is 

generated, that means a call was placed”)). The tower list identifies the location of 

each cell tower via its “latitude and longitude” (id. at 38; see generally id. at 63, 78). 

When Agent Shaw put these two reports “together,” he could “tell when someone 

made a call in an approximate area of where they were located of when they placed 

or received the call [sic]” (id. at 38). Of course, Agent Shaw conceded, he couldn’t 

“tell who physically” had a particular phone because it could’ve been “possessed by 

anyone” (id. at 89).          

 Consistent with Judge Lee’s pretrial rulings, Agent Shaw also detailed the 

limitations of Exhibit 531’s maps, including the wedge-shaped sector illustrations. 

“[T]hese wedges,” Agent Shaw explained, “indicate an approximate area of where 

the call happened as well as the sector of the tower that the call happened on” 

(11/3/22:38).22 A cell site just “emit[s] radio signals” and “radio signals don’t have 

hard and fast boundaries” (id. at 39; see also id. at 67-68 (same)). Agent Shaw 

 
22 Echoing this testimony, Exhibit 531 itself explains that, “[w]hen displayed on a 
map, a sector illustration shows the general area of coverage as it relates to a specific 
geographic area and indicates incoming or outgoing call activity” (A.66 (emphasis 
added)).      
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explained to the jurors that they had to “think of [Exhibit 531’s wedge-shaped sector 

illustrations] as just approximations” (id. at 39; see also id. at 38-39 (“I keep saying 

[‘]approximate areas,[’] because this is showing me the approximate coverage area 

of that tower”)). In sum, Agent Shaw explained, he could not “pinpoint an exact 

location” for any cell phone (id. at 118). Rather, his maps reflected only 

“approximate location[s]” (id.).   

 Using Exhibit 531’s Powerpoint slides, Agent Shaw also detailed his “analysis 

of the historical call detail records” in this case (11/3/22:40). For example, Slide No. 

10 – reproduced below – showed “activation[s] for two phone numbers, both on the 

T-Mobile network” (id. at 41). (An “activation” can “be a call placed or received, a 

text sent or received or data” (id. at 51).) The “first number [wa]s 720-421-3650 and 

that [was] denoted by a blue circle in the wharf area,”23 and then there were 

“activations in cell phone number 443-454-9090, and those [we]re denoted by two 

 
23 On cross, Agent Shaw reiterated that the blue circle around The Wharf site was 
“just an approximation” of the tower’s actual coverage because he had not performed 
a “drive test” (11/3/22:65-66; see also id. at 80 (“[t]his is simply an approximation”); 
id. at 81 (“this is an approximation”)). Thus, he agreed, that tower’s coverage “could 
go out farther than the next tower” – “Possibly. But there’s no way to tell that unless 
we do an actual drive test to measure that true coverage area.” (Id. at 66-67.) See 
also United States v. Morgan, 45 F.4th 192, 197-98 (D.C. Cir. 2022) (though drive 
tests are “primarily” used by telephone companies to determine a wireless network’s 
“health,” law-enforcement personnel “also conduct drive tests, typically to 
determine the approximate coverage area of a particular tower to which a cell phone 
of interest connected during a relevant time period”).    
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wedge-shaped arcs just northeast of the wharf area” (id.).24 All those “activations 

occurred” on “January 26th, 2019, between 2:06 p.m. and 2:37 p.m. [sic: 2:27 p.m.]” 

(id.). 

 
 
 As another example, Slide No. 22 showed “activations for cell phone number 

240-856-8168 which was on the Verizon network on January 26th, 2019, from 8:46 

p.m. through 9:36 p.m.” (11/3/22:47). Additionally, Slide No. 22 had a “red flag 

 
24 On cross, Agent Shaw reiterated that the shaded areas and the “two lines coming 
out” from a tower on any of Exhibit 531’s slides did not depict “the actual coverage 
of that particular tower” (11/3/22:67; see also id. at 74 (Agent Shaw agreeing “the 
arc itself, . . . doesn’t denote where the phone is”)). Further, the “lines also d[idn’t] 
denote how far away the phone could be” (id. at 74-75). Instead, “[t]his [wa]s just 
an approximation of the coverage area” (id. at 67). Agent Shaw similarly agreed 
there “could be bleeding” between tower sectors such that it was “possible” an 
activation had come from a phone completely outside either the shaded area or the 
lines approximating a given sector (id. at 74-75).    
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denoting the location of the crime scene” (id.). Further, Agent Shaw agreed, the “data 

as shown on Slide 22” – e.g., the activation time-stamps and tower locations – was 

“consistent” with “the phone using phone number 240-856-8168, moving from the 

Deanwood/Lincoln Heights area of the City down in the direction of the crime 

scene” (id. at 47-48).  

   

 As a final example, Slide No. 25 showed “activations” (“denoted by two blue 

wedges”) for “cell phone number 720-421-3650, which occurred on the T-Mobile 

network during the time period of January 26th, 2019, 10:08 p.m. through 10:09 

p.m.” (11/3/22:51). The first blue “wedge [wa]s on cell ID 46893 on the third sector” 

– which was “just northwest of the crime scene” – and the second blue wedge was 

“west of the crime scene facing northeast, and that’s on cell ID 59297 on the first 

sector” (id.). Agent Shaw agreed that Slide No. 25’s data was “consistent” with “the 
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phone moving in a northeast direction,” “up 295 possibly or any road that is traveling 

in that same northeast direction” (id. at 51-52).25   

   

 
25 In addition to five generally illustrative slides (A.62-66) and one slide identifying 
the D.C. area’s T-Mobile and Verizon cell sites (A.67), Exhibit 531 contained an 
additional 17 case-specific slides that mapped the target phones’ activations. The 
remainder of Agent Shaw’s testimony about those 17 slides (see 11/3/22:41-57) was 
similar to that described in the text, with the only variables being the time, location, 
and – in the case of Slides 27 and 28 – the date of the activations. See, e.g., id. at 40 
(Slide No. 8 showed a “cell site activation” – via a tower “near the [W]harf” – for 
“cell phone number 720-421-3650 on the T-Mobile network on January 26, 2019, at 
2:02 p.m.”); id. at 41 (Slide No. 9 showed a “cell site activation for cell phone 
number 443-454-9090 that occurred on a T-Mobile network on January 26th, 2019, 
at 2:06 p.m.” and “this activation happened on cell tower 44307,” which “is located 
on [I-]295, just south of the Mayfair area”); id. at 41-42 (Slide No. 11 showed “an 
activation for cell phone number 202-821-8262, which occurred on the Verizon 
network”; this activation “occurred on January 26, 2019, at 2:[23] p.m.” via a “sector 
facing southwest” on a tower at the intersection of Martin Luther King Highway and 
Sheriff Road in Maryland). 
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C. The Motions Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion 
in Admitting Agent Shaw’s Testimony. 

 Willis raises two claims concerning the government’s cell-site evidence. First, 

he alleges (at 22, 31-36), the court “erred in admitting Agent Shaw’s testimony” 

“[b]ecause” – in contravention of Super. Ct. Crim. R. 16(a)(1)(G) – “the government 

failed to disclose [his] actual opinions and their bases and reasons prior to trial.” 

Second, he contends (at 22-23, 36-46), Judge Lee “abused his discretion in admitting 

Agent Shaw’s expert testimony under” Fed. R. Evid. 702. Neither claim has merit. 

1. Willis Has Waived His Rule 16 Claim.   

 Pursuant to Rule 16(a)(1)(G)’s plain language, “[a]t the defendant’s request, 

the government must give to the defendant a written summary of any testimony that 

the government intends to use” under Rule 702 (emphasis added). Subdivision

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